TILED SID J WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JUL 111994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

LAWRENCE FERNANDEZ, JR., **

** **

**

**

**

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 83,392

vs.

DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, 2ND DISTRICT NO. 93-00802

SUSAN E. FERNANDEZ, GEORGE **
MURPHY, MICHAEL A. MURPHY, **
DAVID MURPHY, ANN NASH, LAURIE **
SOMESON, JANE BOURKARD, ESTATE **
OF SUSAN E. FERNANDEZ, deceased, **
and E. RICHARD BOURKARD, JR., **
Personal Representative of the **
ESTATE OF SUSAN E. FERNANDEZ, **

**

Respondents.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Susan E. Fernandez filed a Petition for Dissolution of Marriage on November 26, 1991 (R, 1-4). Petitioner filed his Answer and Counter-Petition for Dissolution on December 27, 1991 (R, 9-18). On January 21, 1992, Susan E. Fernandez filed a Motion to Bifurcate and a Notice of Hearing (R, 27-29). The Motion and Notice of Hearing were hand delivered on Petitioner's attorney and gave the Petitioner two (2) days notice of the hearing. A hearing was held on January 23, 1992, and on that date the trial court entered an order granting the bifurcation (R, 30, 31) and a Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage (R, 32, 33). Judgment of Dissolution recites that neither party appeared at the Final Hearing on January 23, 1991. This first Final Judgment only dissolved the marriage and dealt with no property or financial issues. Two (2) days later the Wife died (R, 206).

The heirs of Susan E. Fernandez became substituted as parties and a second Final Judgment was entered on December 17, 1992, purportedly distributing the marital assets (R, 64-72). On December 28, 1992, the Petitioner filed his Motion for Relief from Judgment Pursuant to Rule 1.540 and Rule 1.530 of Florida Rules of Civil Procedure (R, 73-75). On January 20, 1993, a partial hearing was conducted on the Petitioner's Motion for Relief from Judgment (R, 174-202). On February 10, 1993, the trial court entered its Order Granting Motion for Relief from Judgment (R, 81, 82). From that Order the heirs of Susan E. Fernandez appealed to the Second District Court of Appeal. On January 21, 1994, the Second District

Court entered its opinion and reversed the trial court and remanded with instructions to reinstate the above-mentioned Final Judgments.

Petitioner timely filed a Motion for Rehearing, Certification and Rehearing En Banc with the Second District Court. Said motion was denied. Subsequently, Petitioner filed his Notice to Involve Discretionary Jurisdiction with the Supreme Court of Florida and on June 15, 1994, this Court entered its Order Accepting Jurisdiction and Dispensing with Oral Argument.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At the January 23, 1992 Final Hearing, neither the Husband or Susan E. Fernandez testified or even appeared (R, 179). Susan E. Fernandez died two (2) days later. (R, 206) The father of Susan E. Fernandez testified as to the Wife's residency at the January 23, 1992 hearing. No witness testified that the marriage was irretrievably broken. The Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage makes no specific findings of fact concerning the residency of either Susan E. Fernandez or Lawrence Fernandez, Jr. or that the marriage is irretrievably broken (R, 32, 33). The Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage purported to dissolve the marriage between Susan E. Fernandez and Petitioner and to reserve jurisdiction over all other matters and issues. The property and financial issues were not litigated at the January 23, 1992 Final Hearing.

The second Final Judgment was entered on December 17, 1992, some ten months after the death of Susan E. Fernandez and attempted to divide the parties' property (R, 64-72). Petitioner filed his Motion for Relief from Judgment Pursuant to Rule 1.540 and Rule 1.530 of Florida Rules of Civil Procedure (R, 73-80). It is the Petitioner's position that since neither party testified as to their actual presence in the state and the intention to make Florida his or her residence at that time or that their marriage was irretrievably broken, Florida Statutes \$61.021 and \$61.052 were not complied with and the trial court was without jurisdiction. Thus, the Final Judgment of Dissolution and all subsequent orders

were void and the death of Susan E. Fernandez on January 25, 1992 divested the trial court of jurisdiction.

At the January 20, 1993 hearing on the Petitioner's Motion for Relief from Judgment, the trial court received the testimony of Simson Unterberger, Esquire, the present attorney for the Respondents. As is reflected in the Order Continuing Motion for Relief from Judgment (see Appendix A) and the transcript of testimony from that hearing (R, 174-202), the Petitioner did not complete presenting his evidence on his Motion for Relief from Judgment. After the limited testimony that was presented, the trial court felt that the Motion for Relief might be disposed of on a purely legal argument once it was established that neither party testified and that Susan E. Fernandez died two days after the Final Hearing. Thus, the parties were ordered to submit memoranda of law on the residency issue.

On February 10, 1993, the trial court entered an Order Granting Motion for Relief from Judgment (R, 81, 82). The Order was prepared by the trial court itself. In that Order, the trial court found that it was without jurisdiction on this matter and set aside the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage and all subsequent Orders based upon the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage. The heirs of Susan E. Fernandez appealed that ruling to the Second District Court of Appeal and the Second District wrote an opinion reversing the trial court. In that opinion, the Appellate Court noted that its decision conflicted with Gillman v. Gillman, 412 So.2d 412 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I.

A PARTY SEEKING A DISSOLUTION OF MARRIAGE MUST TESTIFY AS TO HIS OR HER RESIDENCY AND TO THE FACT THAT THE MARRIAGE IS IRRETRIEVABLY BROKEN.

To obtain a dissolution of marriage in Florida, one of the parties must reside in the state 6 months before the filing of the petition. No judgment of dissolution of marriage shall be granted unless the facts prove the marriage is irretrievably broken. In this case, neither the Husband or the Wife appeared at the final hearing and testified as to either of these requirements. From the undisputed facts in this record, the Wife's father, George Murphy, was the only witness as to residency at the final hearing. Such proof is insufficient as a matter of law since there was no proof as to the Wife's intention to remain in Florida. Additionally, there was a complete absence of proof as to the fact that the marriage was irretrievably broken on the date of the final hearing.

II.

EVEN IF THE FINAL JUDGMENT OF DISSOLUTION WAS PROPER, THE TRIAL COURT LOST JURISDICTION OVER THIS MATTER AFTER THE DEATH OF SUSAN E. FERNANDEZ.

The Final Judgment of Dissolution was entered on January 23, 1992. It only purported to dissolve the parties' marriage. No property or financial issues had been litigated at the final hearing. Susan E. Fernandez died two days later on January 25, 1992. The trial court lost jurisdiction over the dissolution case, despite its attempted reservation of jurisdiction in the Final Judgment of Dissolution. A dissolution action dies when one of the

parties dies. Jurisdiction cannot be conferred by stipulation or agreement. The reservation by the trial court would have only been effective if the property and financial issues had been litigated, orally ruled upon, and the ruling reduced to writing after the Wife's death.

III.

THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL INCORRECTLY REVERSED AND REMANDED WITH INSTRUCTIONS TO REINSTATE THE FINAL JUDGMENT SINCE PETITIONER DID NOT COMPLETE HIS TESTIMONY OR EVIDENCE AT THE HEARING ON HIS MOTION FOR RELIEF FOR JUDGMENT.

On December 28, 1992, the Petitioner filed his Motion for Relief from Judgment. As grounds for relief, the Petitioner alleged that the Court was without jurisdiction due to a failure of proof as to residency and as to the marriage being irretrievably broken. Additionally, the Petitioner alleged that the Wife was incompetent for thirty (30) days prior to her death and that Petitioner had no knowledge of the January 23, 1992 final hearing. The Motion was verified by the Petitioner.

At the January 20, 1993 hearing on the Petitioner's Motion for Relief from Judgment, the Petitioner called Simson Unterberger, Esquire as his first witness. The time allotted for the hearing expired, and the two other witnesses for the Petitioner were not able to be called. The trial court, after receiving the testimony of Simson Unterberger, felt that the matter might be resolved on the residency/jurisdictional issue alone and continued the hearing for a later date and required written memoranda on the jurisdictional issue in the meantime. A copy of that Order

Continuing Motion for Relief from Judgment is attached hereto as Appendix A. Following the receipt of the memoranda, the trial court prepared and entered its own order granting motion for relief from judgment. From that order, the Respondents appealed. The Husband was not provided an opportunity to present testimony or evidence on his remaining points: that the Wife was incompetent on January 23, 1992 and/or that he had no knowledge of the January 23, 1992 final hearing and therefore could not have consented to the bifurcation. If the Second District Court was going to reverse, it should not have reinstated the Final Judgment, but should have remanded so the hearing on the Motion for Relief could have been completed.

ARGUMENT

I.

A PARTY SEEKING A DISSOLUTION OF MARRIAGE MUST TESTIFY AS TO HIS OR HER RESIDENCY AND TO THE FACT THAT THE MARRIAGE IS IRRETRIEVABLY BROKEN.

Susan E. Fernandez did not appear and therefore did not present her live testimony at the January 23, 1992 Final Hearing. Attorney Simson Unterberger testified at the January 20, 1993 hearing that neither the Husband nor the Wife was present at the January 23, 1992 hearing (R, 179). This is consistent with the language of the Final Judgment entered on January 23, 1992 (R, 32, 33). Mr. Unterberger also testified that the only witness was Susan E. Fernandez's father. Mr. Unterberger testified that the Final Hearing lasted only a couple of minutes and that the one witness only testified as to residency (R, 179, 180). It is the Petitioner's position that the party seeking the dissolution must testify at the Final Hearing, both as to residency and as to the fact the marriage is irretrievably broken.

The case of <u>Gillman v. Gillman</u>, 413 So.2d 412 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) ruled as follows:

"We hold that Section 61.052(2), Florida Statutes (1971), requires that the individual invoking the jurisdiction of the Court must testify as to his or her actual presence in the state and the intention to make Florida his or her residence at the time, and that such testimony must be corroborated by other testimony or objective evidence." Id. at 414. (Emphasis added)

This language is clear and unequivocal. Gillman has not been reversed by this Court and no other District Court has distinguished or conflicted with Gillman, until the Second District

did so in this case. The party invoking the jurisdiction must testify as to residency. Respondents argue that the testimonial requirement was satisfied by the verified Petition for Dissolution filed by Susan E. Fernandez. This is incorrect. The verified Petition is not subject to cross-examination. A review of the record reveals that the verified Petition was not even received into evidence at the Final Hearing. The residency allegation in the Petition was conclusory and inadequate. If the Gillman Court had intended for "testify" to mean "prove", they would have used the term "prove by objective evidence" in lieu of the word "testify" just as they did with the corroboration of residency requirement.

Respondents also argue that since the Answer of the Husband admitted the Wife's allegations of residency and of the marriage being irretrievably broken, then these facts were established and proven by such admission. This is also incorrect. In <u>Wise v. Wise</u>, 310 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975), the First District Court of Appeal held that an admission of residency in the pleadings by an adverse party cannot substitute for proof. See also <u>Kutner v. Kutner</u>, 33 So.2d 42 (Fla. 1947) and <u>Hadley v. Hadley</u>, 140 So.2d 326 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1962).

The State of Florida has a substantial interest in every divorce action in the State. In fact, a dissolution case is sometimes referred to as a triangular proceeding in which the husband, the wife, and the state are parties. <u>Danner v. Danner</u>, 206 So.2d 650 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1968) and <u>Harman v. Harman</u>, 128 So.2d

164 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1961). Dissolution in Florida is controlled by statute. These statutes must be strictly adhered to. What policy interest is served by requiring live testimony at the Final Hearing? Not only does live testimony insure the right of crossexamination, it also protects against a divorce being granted when the parties have had a change of heart and reconciled. numerous instances where parties have filed for dissolution and after the filing resumed living together. For all we know, these parties may have previously filed an action for dissolution and then reconciled. If the divorce could be proved by the initial pleadings, it would be possible to dissolve marriages that were not truly broken. Live testimony is the rule. It was only the assumption of the attorneys and the trial court that the Husband and the Wife wanted this dissolution on January 23, 1992. attorneys and the trial court guessed that the marriage was irretrievably broken. There was absolutely no evidence at the January 23, 1992 hearing that the marriage was broken on that date.

Even if there was an exception to the rule of live testimony, the proof in this case as to residency and irretrievably broken was insufficient. Residency must be proven by clear and positive evidence, a standard of proof which is akin to clear and convincing evidence. Beaucamp v. Beaucamp, 508 So.2d 419 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987). The Wife's father apparently testified as to her presence in the state. However, he clearly could offer no competent evidence as to the Wife's intent as to residency. Residency is not only the actual presence in the state, but also an intention to remain. No

other evidence was received by the Court. Again, the Wife's Petition was not received into evidence. The Wife's father clearly offered no evidence as to the marriage being broken and could not offer any competent evidence as to the Wife's state of mind on this issue.

Respondents have previously argued that, by analogy to Rule 1.611(c) and (d), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, a verified allegation of residency coupled with an admission of residency in a responsive pleading is sufficient to bestow jurisdiction on the court. In support of this argument, Respondents refer to Florida's simplified dissolution procedure. Such analogy is misplaced.

Rule 1.611, Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, requires that before the simplified dissolution process can be used that there be no children and that the parties have made a satisfactory division of their property. A review of Form 1.943-1 reveals that both the Husband and Wife must appear before a deputy clerk and execute a joint petition under oath. Residency must be corroborated by a witness. Then both parties must appear before the judge. Rule 1.943(b), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. Normally, the parties appear before the judge that day. Thus, in simplified dissolution there are sufficient procedural safeguards to protect the parties and the interest of the State of Florida. It is hard to imagine a dissolution being granted where the parties have had a change of heart or reconciled, since they must both appear before a judge. It is just as hard to imagine a dissolution being granted where the residency requirement is not met if both parties appear before the

judge and are subject to inquiry by the court.

In the case at hand, Susan E. Fernandez and Petitioner could not use the simplified dissolution procedure since they had not divided their assets and liabilities. Even if they could have used such procedure, they did not comply with Rule 1.943(b) in that neither party appeared before the Court. Thus, this Court would not have had jurisdiction even had this been a simplified dissolution case.

Respondents argument by analogy would require this Court to overrule the decisions of <u>Gillman</u>, <u>Wise</u> and <u>Beaucamp</u>, <u>supra</u>. The Respondents have not demonstrated a compelling reason for any change in the underlying law which would justify such a break with precedent. Florida Statutes §61.021 and §61.052 (1991) were the law when <u>Gillman</u>, <u>Wise</u> and <u>Beaucamp</u> were decided. The enactment of a simplified dissolution procedure does not apply to this case since the parties were not proceeding under that rule. Respondents' analogy fails.

Simply put, Florida has a compelling interest in requiring the party seeking a dissolution to appear before the court. In a non-simplified case, that party must testify as to residency and the fact that the marriage is irretrievably broken. Such requirement is not an unreasonable requirement for any litigant.

In its opinion in the instant case, the Second District Court ruled that the verified Petition, coupled with the testimony of Susan E. Fernandez's father, was sufficient to prove residency. The Second District Court failed to address the issue of whether it

was proven that the marriage was irretrievably broken. Florida Statute §61.052 (1991) provides as follows:

- (1) No judgment of dissolution of marriage shall be granted unless one of the following facts appears, which shall be pleaded generally:
 - (a) The marriage is irretrievably broken...

Subsection (2) of the same statute begins with "Based on the evidence at the hearing". These portions of the statute have not been amended since this Court decided the case of Ryan v. Ryan, 277 So.2d 266 (Fla. 1973) wherein the dissolution stated was ruled constitutional. In Ryan, this Court noted that it is sufficient in the petition to allege the ultimate fact that the marriage is However, the trial court must still irretrievably broken. determine that in each case based upon the facts of each case. at 271. In Stafford v. Stafford, 294 So.2d 25 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1974), the Third District applied Ryan and determined that the parties could not prove "irretrievably broken" by stipulation, but that a full evidentiary hearing should be held. The Fourth District Court following Ryan in the case of Nelms v. Nelms, 283 So.2d 50 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973) and ruled that an admission in the pleadings or stipulation does not prove "irretrievably broken". The trier of fact must determine it from the evidence adduced. In McClelland v. McClelland, 318 So.2d 160 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975), the First District stated that the trial court must learn from the parties as to whether the marriage is irretrievably broken. Clearly, all of these cases contemplate one or both of the parties testifying at the final hearing that the marriage is irretrievably broken.

The only proof was the allegation in the parties' respective petitions. Mr. Unterberger testified that he was relying on the pleadings to prove the issue of irretrievably broken (R, 184-185). Since the Second District Court failed to address this issue in its opinion, we can only assume they considered the proof sufficient. Husband respectfully contends the proof the insufficient. First, the verified Petition was not introduced into evidence. Second, the pleading as to "irretrievably broken" was general and conclusory, as that statute allows. Third, the Wife's Petition was filed on November 26, 1991 and the Final Hearing was two months later. Finally, relying on the pleadings is contrary to the statutory law of dissolution and the case law interpreting it. Statute §61.052 requires the final judgment to be based upon the proof adduced at the final hearing. There simply was no proof. "Irretrievably broken" is clearly a subjective state of mind which cannot be proven by an affidavit, which is all a verified petition is. Even if the proof was adequate to show the marriage was broken on November 26, 1991, it takes a major assumption to determine that it was still broken on January 23, 1992. The statutory law of dissolution of Florida does not allow for such assumption and instead requires evidence at the final hearing.

If the decision of the Second District Court in the instant case is allowed to stand, there will be confusion in the circuit courts of this state as to how to prove residency and "irretrievably broken" in a dissolution case. The law of Florida requires a uniform standard and approach to the handling of

dissolution cases. The statutory law of dissolution requires that residency and "irretrievably broken" be proven at the final hearing.

II.

EVEN IF THE FINAL JUDGMENT OF DISSOLUTION WAS PROPER, THE TRIAL COURT LOST JURISDICTION OVER THIS MATTER AFTER THE DEATH OF SUSAN E. FERNANDEZ.

Even if the Final Judgment of Dissolution entered on January 23, 1992 is proper, the Court lost jurisdiction over this matter after Susan E. Fernandez's death on January 25, 1992. In other words, if the marriage was effectively dissolved, the divorce court lost jurisdiction to decide property and financial issues on the Wife's death.

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