WOSA

FILED

SID J WHITE

IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____Chief Deputy Clerk

LAWRENCE FERNANDEZ, JR.,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO: 83,392

SUSAN E. FERNANDEZ, GEORGE MURPHY, MICHAEL A. MURPHY, DAVID MURPHY, ANN NASH, LAURIE SOMESON, JANE BOURKARD, ESTATE OF SUSAN E. FERNANDEZ, deceased, and E. RICHARD BOURKARD, JR., Personal Representative of the ESTATE OF SUSAN E. FERNANDEZ,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SIMSON UNTERBERGER, ESQ. Suite 707, One Mack Center 501 East Kennedy Boulevard Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 229-8548 Attorney for Respondents

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

Susan is somehow fatal to the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage by which their marriage was dissolved. With this suggestion, Susan vigorously disagrees.

In this case, Susan's verified Petition for Dissolution of Marriage and Other Relief alleged, among other things, that her marriage to Lawrence was irretrievably broken. In his Answer to Susan's Petition, Lawrence admitted this allegation, that is, that the marriage was irretrievably broken, and, in Count I of his Counterpetition for Dissolution of Marriage, Partition and Other Relief, Lawrence alleged that "the marriage of the parties is irretrievably broken". In her Answer to this Counterpetition, Susan admitted this quoted allegation made by Lawrence. With these admissions in hand and without belaboring the point, Susan asserts that the irretrievably broken nature of the marriage was clearly established to the trial court and relies upon the same argument involving Rule 1.110 Fla.R.Civ.P. as she made earlier in this Brief regarding the sufficiency of admissions in the pleadings as evidence of residency.

In addition to the foregoing, Susan also takes note of the bearing which the following cases have upon the point here being argued. In <u>Harrison v. Harrison</u>, 314 So.2d 812 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975), it is said that a trial court's finding that a marriage is irretrievably broken is clothed with a presumption of correctness. In the case at hand, the trial court clearly concluded that the marriage of Susan and Lawrence was irretrievably broken since this is the only explanation for the entry of the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage by which their marriage was dissolved. Thus, the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage is presumably

correct. In <u>Reopelle v. Reopelle</u>, 587 So.2d 508 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), the issue was whether the parties marriage was terminated in the absence of a finding in the judgment that the marriage was irretrievably broken. The wife's position was that such a finding must be contained in a final judgment of dissolution of marriage and cited two (2) cases in support of her view. In its opinion, Florida's 5th DCA stated that:

Neither of the cases cited stands for the proposition that a written finding that the marriage is irretrievably broken is required in the order dissolving the marriage. Both of these cases hold simply that the court must make а finding that the marriage is irretrievably broken, even if both parties to the dissolution agreed in their petitions that the marriage was in fact irretrievably broken. They do not hold that this finding must be in writing.

Thus, from <u>Reopelle</u>, it is clear that, though a court in a dissolution of marriage case must find (though not necessarily in writing) that the marriage is irretrievably broken, it can do so based upon the allegation of "irretrievably broken" contained in a petition for dissolution of marriage and the admission of the allegation in an answer to a petition for dissolution of marriage. Of similar import is <u>McClelland v. McClelland</u>, 318 So.2d 160 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975) wherein is found the following:

Although husband and wife may agree in pleadings that the marriage is irretrievably broken, the statute does not require a circuit judge sitting with the historic discretion of a chancellor to find that to be a fact simply because the parties have said so.

Clear from <u>McClelland</u> is the proposition that a trial court can: a. accept as fact that the marriage of the parties in a dissolution of marriage case is irretrievably broken based upon an

allegation to that effect contained in a petition for dissolution of marriage and an answer admitting the allegation, or,

b. reject same and perhaps require evidence.

Of course, Susan is only concerned with a) above which clearly supports the upholding of the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage in her dissolution of marriage case against Lawrence for in it the trial court clearly accepted as fact that the marriage was irretrievably broken because of:

a. the allegation of "irretrievably broken" contained in Susan's Petition and admitted by Lawrence in his Answer.

b. tThe allegation of "irretrievably broken" contained in Lawrence's Counterpetition and admitted by Susan in her Answer thereto.

The upshot of the preceding is that there is absolutely no defect in these proceedings arising from a trial court's reliance on allegations, admitted in answers, to establish the fact that the marriage of Susan and Lawrence was irretrievably broken. If the law were otherwise, then what good is Rule 1.110(e) Fla.R.Civ.P. since facts admitted in pleadings would still always have to be proven at trial via evidence presented at same on the theory that the facts had changed between the date when pled and trial. Τf such were or is to be the law, then one must wonder why Florida's Supreme Court ever promulgated Rule 1.110(e) Fla.R.Civ.P. and, of course, via it's opinion in this case, it might as well announce that the rule has been revoked or is no longer of any effect. Naturally, Susan anticipates no such action by Florida's Supreme Court and thus posits that both she and the trial court were eminently correct in relying upon Rule 1.110(e) Fla.R.Civ.P. in

concluding that proof that her marriage to Lawrence was irretrievably broken existed because same had been alleged in pleadings and admitted in responsive pleadings.

ARGUMENT UPON ISSUE IV

In his second Argument, Lawrence claims that the trial court lost jurisdiction after Susan's death to decide matters of division of Susan's and Lawrence's property.

Two cases bear on this claim. In Jaris v. Tucker, 414 So.2d 1164 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), a final judgment dissolving a marriage and adopting a stipulation by which the parties had agreed to sell their home was entered after the death of the husband. This final judgment was overturned on appeal because the husband's death deprived the trial court of power (jurisdiction) since the marriage had been terminated by death, not by the court. Jaris is obviously inapplicable to and distinguishable from the case at hand since, in the latter, the marriage of Susan and Lawrence was dissolved before Susan died. More relevant to the case at hand is Becker v. King, 307 So.2d 855 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975) in which, prior to the husband's death, a partial final judgment was entered which dissolved the parties marriage and the court announced its decision regarding collateral matters such as property ownership and division. Before orders could be entered memorializing the decision regarding the collateral matters, the husband died. These orders were entered post-mortem though nunc pro tunc to the date of the partial final The assertion on appeal was that the orders entered judgment. after the husband's death were invalid. This assertion was rejected upon the following rational:

Once a court of record has jurisdiction of the

cause and the parties and all the evidence has been presented, the cause is then ripe for judgment and the court is not thereafter deprived, by the death of a party, of its inherent power to render a decision or judgment and may do so in the interest of justice by a judgment nunc pro tunc as of the time of submission.

A purely divorce suit is sometimes made an exception to this general principal of law permitting rendition and entry of a nunc pro tunc judgment after death because, it is said, the death itself has already terminated the marriage relationship. If so, the reason for this exception does not apply in this case because the marriage was not ended by death but by the written partial final judgment of January 22, 1973, and the matter involved in the appealed judgment relate only to matters to, collateral and made necessary and appropriate for legal decision by, the adjudication of dissolution.

Of course, Respondents recognize one distinction between <u>Becker</u> and the case at hand, to wit: that, unlike <u>Becker</u>, ownership and division of property issues had not been decided prior to Susan's death. However, this is of no moment because, as noted by the <u>Becker</u> court,

> The essence of this appeal is the contention that because the husband died before the two (2) nunc pro tunc final judgments were signed, those judgments are invalid, especially because the court had previously dissolved the marriage and also because the court did not order a substitution of parties and did not give notice to the estate of the decedent before the entry of those judgments.

In the case at hand, like the <u>Becker</u> court would have required based on the immediately preceding quote in a scenario such as that presented by the case at hand, there was a substitution of parties and notice to Susan's estate. If anything is clear from the Stipulated Final Judgment, it is that the following had become parties to the case, to wit: Susan's estate, heirs and personal

representatives. Thus, when it is recognized that the court which entered the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage and the Stipulated Final Judgment is the Circuit Court in and for Hillsborough County, Florida, that Circuit Court's have jurisdiction in proceedings relating to the settlement of estates of decedents and other jurisdiction usually pertaining to probate, Chapter 26.012(2)(b) Florida Statutes, and that, after Susan's death, her estate, heirs and personal representatives became parties in the case, it is undoubted that the Circuit Court which entered the Stipulated Final Judgment had subject matter jurisdiction to do so and personal jurisdiction over the necessary parties. Therefore, Lawrence's contention that somehow the Circuit Court lacked jurisdiction to divide and deal with property, as was done via said Stipulated Final Judgment, should be rejected.

ARGUMENT UPON ISSUE V

In his third Argument, Lawrence complains about what he claims was the trial court's failure to receive evidence upon other questions, to wit:

a. Whether Susan was competent on the day of the hearing, January 23, 1992, which culminated in the entry of the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage.

b. Whether Lawrence personally was on notice of the hearing. raised by his Motion for Relief from Judgment Pursuant to Rule 1.540 and Rule 1.530 of Rules of Civil Procedure.

Specifically, Lawrence attributes these failures to the fact that the trial court ruled in his favor upon the question of its subject matter jurisdiction and thus never reached a and b above. Thus, Lawrence seems to be arguing that, in the event this appeal in

Florida's Supreme Court ends with a ruling affirming the Second District Court of Appeals' view that the trial court had subject matter jurisdiction in Susan and Lawrence's dissolution of marriage case, then the case should nevertheless still be remanded to the lower court for an evidentiary hearing upon a and b above.

There are several reasons why a and b above should not be considered and they are as follows.

First, this case is before Florida's Supreme Court because of a conflict between the opinion of Florida's Second District Court of Appeal in it and <u>Gillman v. Gillman</u>, supra., which conflicting cases do not deal with either of the issues inherent in a and b above. Therefore, since those issues where never raised via a cross-appeal filed by Lawrence when this case was before Florida's Second District Court of Appeal, Respondents would suggest that the ability and/or right to raise them in this case in Florida's Supreme Court has been waived. If the trial court erred in not receiving evidence upon these issues, a point not conceded by Respondents, then this error should have been appealed by Lawrence when he was an appellee in this case while it was in Florida's Second District Court of Appeal. He filed no such cross-appeal. Accordingly, the issue is waived.

Secondly, Lawrence has waived these issues in another way. As noted in other parts of this brief, after Susan's death, her estate, heirs and personal representative were made parties to the case which ultimately ended in the entry of Stipulated Final Judgment on December 17, 1992. The Stipulated Final Judgment states, among other things, that:

THIS CAUSE came on before the Court on

December 17, 1992 for Final Hearing pursuant to Order Setting Non-Jury Trial (October 20, 1992). Present were: Glenn E. Brown and his client, Lawrence Fernandez, Jr. Also present: J. Scott Taylor and his clients, George Murphey, Michael A. Murphey, David Murphy, Laurie Someson. Mr. Taylor's clients, Ann Nash and Jane Bourkard were not present.

Prior to the commencement of the Final Hearing, Mr. Taylor and Mr. Brown announced to the Court that the parties had settled their differences as to all matters which were pending before the Court. The settlement reached between the parties is as follows:

From this quote from the Stipulated Final Judgment, it is clear that Lawrence was present at and participated in this case subsequent to the entry of the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage and surely he did so on the premise that his marriage to Susan had been dissolved by court action, not her death. Only such a premise accounts for the following from Paragraph A of the Stipulated Final Judgment.

> This is the former marital residence of LAWRENCE FERNANDEZ, JR. and SUSAN E. FERNANDEZ, DECEASED, which is now owned by MR. FERNANDEZ and his FORMER WIFE'S ESTATE as tenants in common.

Thus, it is certain that Lawrence was involved in this case after the dissolution of marriage with knowledge of what was going on and, in this way, he was waiving any complaint that he may have had about Susan's competency at the time of the hearing (January 23, 1992) at which the marriage was dissolved and about this supposed lack of notice to him personally of said hearing.

Thirdly, Lawrence's Motion for Relief From Judgment Pursuant to Rule 1.540 and Rule 1.530 of Rules of Civil Procedure alleges "mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect" arising apparently from what he claims was his lack of actual notice of the

January 23, 1992 hearing which culminated in the entry of Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage. This quoted language is lifted from Rule 1.540(b) Fla.R.Civ.P. which permits the setting aside of judgments for such reasons. However, when the reason is mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect, the motion alleging same must be filed within a reasonable time. Respondent suggests that the Motion for Relief From Judgment Pursuant to Rule 1.540 and Rule 1.530 of Rules of Civil Procedure having been filed on December 28, 1992, some eleven (11) months after the entry on January 23, 1992 of the Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage to which it was directed, was not filed within a reasonable time. The eleven (11) months alone is unreasonable. However, the eleven (11) months, when combined with the entry of the Stipulated Final Judgment on December 17, 1992, some eleven (11) days before the filing of Motion for Relief From Judgment Pursuant to Rule 1.540 and Rule 1.530 of Rules of Civil Procedure, clearly renders the time unreasonable because same has created the ludicrous situation in which Lawrence sought to set aside a Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage after entry of a subsequent Stipulated Final Judgment which was issued upon the conclusion of a proceeding on December 17, 1992 at which Lawrence was indisputably present with his attorney with various of Respondents and their attorney. Certainly, it is unreasonable to wait until after the occurrence of a proceeding at which the mistake, inadvertence, etc., if any, were obviously known and after further proceedings having occurred despite and in the face of same to seek to go back in time eleven (11) months to seek to set aside a Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage upon such bases. After all, if Lawrence had been

mistaken, surprised, neglectful or been inadvertent, why did he proceed with the process which ended, not with just any Final Judgment, but with one with which he agreed and to which he stipulated. This action by Lawrence renders his Motion for Relief From Judgment Pursuant to Rule 1.540 and Rule 1.530 of Rules of Civil Procedure unreasonably filed time wise.

CONCLUSION

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